UNIVERSITY OF WAIKATO

Hamilton New Zealand

Bibliography of Research using the NZIER's Quarterly Survey of Business Opinion

Robert A. Buckle and Brian Silverstone

Department of Economics

Working Paper in Economics 07/11

June 2011

Corresponding Author

Brian Silverstone

Economics Department University of Waikato Private Bag 3105 Hamilton, 3240 NEW ZEALAND

Tel: +64 (07) 838 4045 Email: silver@waikato.ac.nz

Robert A. Buckle

Faculty of Commerce & Administration Victoria University of Wellington P O Box 600 Wellington, 6140 NEW ZEALAND

> Tel: +64 (04) 463 5822 Email: bob.buckle@vuw.ac.nz

Abstract

The New Zealand Institute of Economic Research (NZIER) has conducted and published a quarterly survey of business opinion continuously, and with largely unchanged questions, since June 1961. The Institute's *Quarterly Survey of Business Opinion* (QSBO) is a business tendency survey based substantially on the Business Test of the IFO Munich. It covers the manufacturing, building, merchant and service sectors and architects. This bibliography lists and classifies some 80 research papers which used QSBO data and published between 1964 and 2011.

Key Words

bibliography
business surveys
business tendency surveys
NZIER
QSBO
New Zealand

JEL Code

E32

New Zealand Institute of Economic Research P O Box 3479 Wellington, 6140 NEW ZEALAND

> Tel: +64 (04) 472 1880 Email: econ@nzier.org.nz

Bibliography of Research using the NZIER's Quarterly Survey of Business Opinion

Contents

	page
Background to the Quarterly Survey of Business Opinion (QSBO)	4
Alphabetical Listing	6
Classified Listing	
History	11
Expectations	11
Pricing Behaviour	12
Capacity Utilisation, Output and Inflation	13
Investment, Imports and Exports	14
Employment	14
Structural Change	15
Business Cycles	15
Models Using or Including QSBO Data	16
Special Surveys Held in Conjunction with QSBO	16
Short Articles in Regular Issues of QSBO	17
QSBO Editors and Managers 1961-2011	18

Background to the Quarterly Survey of Business Opinion (QSBO)

History

The New Zealand Institute of Economic Research (NZIER) has conducted and published a quarterly survey of business opinion continuously, and with largely unchanged questions, since June 1961. Based substantially on the Business Test of the IFO (Institut fur Wirtschaftsforschung), Munich, the Institute's *Quarterly Survey of Business Opinion* (QSBO) is a tendency survey with questions on a wide range of economic indicators. Similar surveys are used in many other countries.

Questions in the QSBO ask whether various business conditions will deteriorate, stay the same, or improve. The responses yield information about business trends much faster than official statistics. Techniques for analysing the results of surveys like the QSBO, and linking them to quantitative measures, have been devised and developed.

The first surveys covered manufacturers, builders and merchants who were members of the NZIER-100 respondents in total. Architects were added in 1964 and the service industry in 1966. The panel of respondents was extended beyond members of the Institute in 1985.

Methodology

Each quarter, a panel of around 3,500 chief executives or their nominees in the three main sectors - manufacturing and building, merchants, and services - are asked to respond. The sample is enterprises selected from the business directory of Statistics New Zealand and the UBD New Zealand Business Directory. The selection of firms in the panel is based on the number of employees, divided into several class intervals. The number sampled in each of the three major sectors is proportional to the sector's employment. All firms with fewer than six employees are excluded, due to problems establishing the database. All firms with more than 200 employees are included. The remaining size categories are sampled in proportion to their total employment.

Results are obtained by weighting the responses by class interval. An economy wide aggregation is undertaken for those questions common to all sectoral questionnaires as illustrated in Table 1. The survey of architects is indicative only. It covers around 100 architects located throughout New Zealand. All individual responses to the survey remain confidential to the NZIER.

Long term series derived from the survey are held at the NZIER and are available to NZIER members from www.nzier.org.nz.

Table 1: NZIER Quarterly Survey of Business Opinion Economy-wide Questionnaire

Questions Common to Manufacturers, Builders, Merchants and Services (Percentage of 690 replies to *QSBO* 200, March 2011)

1. How many employees are 1-20 23	covered by this	return? 51-100 101-2 10 9	200 201-500 26	Over 500
2. Which district does this re Wellington Manawatu Wairarapa 12	turn primarily re Auckland Northland 30 Nelson West Coast 2	Waikato Bay of Plenty 9 Canterbury Marlborough	Hawke's Bay East Cape 3 Otago Southland 10	Taranaki Wanganui 4 Spread Over New Zealand 18
3. Do you expect the general months to:	business situat	ion in New Zeala Improve San 17 39	ne Deteriorate	
4. Finding the staff you want(a) Skilled; Specialist(b) Unskilled; Semi-skilled	Easier 14	d with three mont Same 54 52	hs ago is: Harder 23 9	na 9 17
5. What single factor , if any, Orders/ Sales 74	is most limiting Materials/ Components 3	your ability to in Finance Labe 6 4		Other 6
6. Do you expect new investment approvals (next 12 months compared with the last 12 months) to be:				
(a) On Buildings(b) On Plant & Machinery	Greater 18 26	Same 39 38	Less 23 26	na 19 10
7. Past and future trends. E	xcluding season	al variations, wha	t has been your f	ïrm's

7. **Past and future trends.** Excluding seasonal variations, what has been your firm's experience during the *past three months* and what changes do you expect in your firm during the *next three months* in respect of:

Experienced change **past** three months

past unce months				
· ·	Up	Same	Down	na
(a)	23	56	20	1
(b)	23	41	23	13
(c)	12	70	13	5
(d)	44	45	7	3
(e)	24	60	13	3
(f)	16	37	44	3
(g)	19	43	34	4

Numbers Employed Overtime Worked Labour Turnover Average Cost Selling Prices

Profitability
Output/Sales

Expected change **next** three months

next three months				
	na	Down	Same	Up
(h)	1	22	54	23
(i)	12	27	44	17
(j)	5	14	69	12
(k)	3	6	43	49
(1)	3	14	55	28
(m)	2	41	38	19
(n)	3	31	42	24

Note: na means 'not applicable'.

Source: NZIER Quarterly Survey of Business Opinion (200) March 2011, p.18.

Alphabetical Listing

- Allen, James (2011) 'A Brief History of the QSBO' paper presented to the 52nd Annual Conference of the New Zealand Association of Economists, Wellington, June.
- Ashley-Jones, Cathryn (1982) 'Investment Intentions' *Quarterly Survey of Business Opinion* (86) September, 2-5; reprinted in Bowie and Easton (eds) (1987) 12-15.
- Austin, T., M. Fox and R. Hamilton (1996) 'A Study of Small and Medium Sized Business Financing in New Zealand' Wellington: Ministry of Commerce.
- Baird, Mark, John Savage and Anna Petherick (1990) 'Responding to Change: What Firms Say about Structural Adjustment' NZIER *Research Monograph* 54, October, 90pp.
- Balcombe, Kelvin (1996) 'The Carlson-Parkin Method Applied to NZ Price Expectations Using QSBO Survey Data' *Economics Letters* 51(1) April, 51-57.
- Balcombe, Kelvin and C. John McDermott (2003) 'Testing for Asymmetric Price Stickiness using NZ Business Opinion Data: A Bootstrap Approach' *Applied Economics Letters* 10(15) December, 955-958.
- Bollard, Alan E. and L. Fraser Jackson (1992a) 'Economic Stress in the New Zealand Business Sector 1975-1992' NZIER *Working Paper* 92/12, September, 16pp.
- Bollard, Alan E. and L. Fraser Jackson (1992b) 'How Economically Stressed Firms Adjust' NZIER *Working Paper* 92/11, September, 21pp.
- Bowie, Robert and Brian Easton (eds) (1987) 'Business Opinion in New Zealand: The NZIER Survey' NZIER *Research Paper* 36, January, 109pp.
- Bowie, Robert (1987) 'Three Related Surveys: Wellington, Housing and Australia' in Bowie and Easton (eds) (1987) 57-65.
- Braae, Richard (1983) 'Using Business Opinion: Imports' *Quarterly Survey of Business Opinion* (89) June, 2-4; reprinted in Bowie and Easton (eds) (1987) 16-18.
- Briggs, Phil (1986) 'The NZIER VAR Model' NZIER Working Paper 86/05, May.
- Briggs, Phil (1993) 'Analysis of the QSBO ECA Survey Results' and 'Tables from the QSBO ECA Survey' NZIER *Working Paper* 93/11 and *Working Paper* 93/9, June, 28pp and 129pp, respectively.
- Briggs, Phil (1998) 'A Presentation on Using QSBO to Forecast Exports and Investment' NZIER *Working Paper* 98/6, March, 12pp.
- Brooks, Ray (1986) 'Leading Indicators of Investment' Reserve Bank of New Zealand *Discussion Paper* G86/3.
- Buckle, Robert A. (1988) 'Expectations and Credibility in the Disinflation Process' NZIER *Discussion Paper* No.33, 29pp.
- Buckle, Robert A., Eric W. Assendelft and L. Fraser Jackson (1988a) 'Patterns in Accuracy and Bias of Business Expectations for Several Variables: New Zealand Experience, 1964-1987' paper presented to Australian Bicentennial Economics Congress, Canberra, August-September, 33pp.

- Buckle, Robert A., Eric W. Assendelft and L. Fraser Jackson (1988b) 'The Value of Business Expectations' NZIER *Contract Research Paper* 157, 35pp.
- Buckle, Robert A., Eric W. Assendelft and L. Fraser Jackson (1990) 'Manufacturers' Expectations of Prices and Quantities: New Zealand Experience, 1964-87' *Applied Economics* 22(5) May, 579-598.
- Buckle, Robert A. and John A. Carlson (1996a) 'Inflation and Asymmetric Price Adjustment' Victoria University of Wellington, Graduate School of Business and Government Management *Working Paper* 12/96, November, 32pp.
- Buckle, Robert A. and John A. Carlson (1996b) 'Price Duration with Two-Sided Pricing Rules' in K.H. Oppenländer and G. Poser (eds) *Business Cycle Surveys: Forecasting Issues and Methodological Aspects*, Aldershot: Avebury, 99-118.
- Buckle, Robert A. and John A. Carlson (1998) 'Inflation and Asymmetric Output Adjustments by Firms' *Economic Inquiry* 36(2) April, 215-228.
- Buckle, Robert A. and John A. Carlson (2000a) 'Inflation and Asymmetric Price Adjustment' *Review of Economics and Statistics* 82(1) February, 157-160.
- Buckle, Robert A. and John A. Carlson (2000b) 'Menu Costs, Firm Size and Price Rigidity' *Economics Letters* 66(1) January, 59-63.
- Buckle, Robert A. and Linda B. Kay (1982) 'The Price Freeze and Inflation Expectations' NZIER *Quarterly Predictions* (71) September, 36-43.
- Buckle, Robert A., David Haugh and Paul Rodway (1999) 'What Determines Firm Investment Intentions? Micro and Macro Analyses using Business Survey Data' in K.H. Oppenländer, G. Poser and B. Schips (eds) *Use of Survey Data for Industry, Research and Economic Policy* Aldershot: Ashgate, 291-309.
- Buckle, Robert A. and Chris S. Meads (1991) 'How Do Firms React to Surprising Changes to Demand? A Vector Autoregressive Analysis using Business Survey Data' Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics 53(4) November, 451-66; reprinted in K.H Oppenländer and G. Poser (eds) (1992) Business Cycle Analysis by Means of Economic Surveys Aldershot: Avebury, 183-202.
- Buckle, Robert A. and Julian M. Peters (1995) 'Expectations and Employment Dynamics in New Zealand Manufacturing' in P.S. Morrison (ed) *Labour, Employment and Work in New Zealand* Proceedings of the Sixth Conference, Wellington: Victoria University of Wellington, 76-86.
- Buckle, Robert A., Julian M. Peters and John Savage (1996) 'Asymmetric Price Adjustment: An Investigation of the Merchant and Service Sectors' NZIER June.
- Cassino, Enzo (1993) 'An Examination of the Distributions Underlying Business Survey Responses in New Zealand' MCA Thesis, Wellington: Victoria University of Wellington.
- Cassino, Enzo (1994) 'A Study of the Distributions underlying Business Survey Responses in New Zealand' Reserve Bank of New Zealand, mimeo, 32pp.
- Chapple, Simon, Richard Harris and Brian Silverstone (1996) 'Unemployment' in B. Silverstone, A. Bollard and R. Lattimore (eds) *A Study of Economic Reform: The Case of New Zealand*, Amsterdam: Elsevier, 139-171.

- Claus, Iris (2003) 'Estimating Potential Output for New Zealand' Applied Economics 35(7) 751-760.
- Coleman, Andrew and Brian Silverstone (2007) 'Price Changes by Firms in New Zealand: Some Evidence from the *Quarterly Survey of Business Opinion*' Reserve Bank of New Zealand *Bulletin* 70(3) September, 18-30.
- Conway, Paul and Ben Hunt (1997) 'Estimating Potential Output: A Semi-Structural Approach' Reserve Bank of New Zealand *Discussion Paper* G97/9. [http://www.rbnz.govt.nz/research/discusspapers/dp1997.html#P14_433]
- Gillion, Colin G. (1964) 'New Zealand Institute of Economic Research Surveys of Business Opinion' *Economic Record* 40(89) March, 58-77.
- Goodson, Matthew C. (1995) 'Irreversible Investment, Uncertainty and Hysteresis: A New Zealand Investigation' *New Zealand Economic Papers* 29(2) December, 119-141.
- Green, Christopher and Craig Beaumont (1993) 'Leading Indicators of Economic Activity' Reserve Bank of New Zealand *Bulletin* 56(2) June, 166-176.
- Ha, Yuong and Tim Hampton (2002) 'A Small Estimated Model (SEM) for New Zealand' paper presented to the 2002 Australasian Macro Workshop, *Reserve Bank of New Zealand*. [http://www.rbnz.qovt.nz/research/workshops/112040/4apr02hay.pdf]
- Hall, Viv B. and Max L. King (1976) 'Inflationary Expectations in New Zealand: A Preliminary Study' *New Zealand Economic Papers* 10, 118-151.
- Hassan, Matthew and Phil Briggs (2000) 'Stocks and the Business Cycle: An Initial Examination of Business Opinion Survey Data' in K.H. Oppenländer, G. Poser and B. Schips (eds) *Use of Survey Data for Industry, Research and Economic Policy*, Aldershot: Ashgate, 503-514.
- Hayley, Simon (1995) 'Capacity Utilisation: Modelling and Interpretation' Reserve Bank of New Zealand *Research Note* N95/9, March, 41-55.
- Haywood, Eric (1980) 'An Introductory Look at the NZIER's Business Opinion Data' New Zealand Journal of Business (2).
- Hodgetts, Bernard (2004) 'NZIER's Capacity Utilisation Index' Reserve Bank of New Zealand *Bulletin* 67(3) September, 19-26.
- Holmes, Mark J., James Mitchell and Brian Silverstone (2010) 'Architects as Nowcasters of Housing Construction' *National Institute Economic Review* 210(1) September, 111-121.
- Holmes, Mark J. and Brian Silverstone (2008) 'Business Confidence and Cyclical Turning Points: A Markov-Switching Approach' *Applied Economics Letters* 19(2) 229-233.
- Huddleston, John (1988) 'NZIER QSBO Indicators: Their Reliability as Leading Indicators for Investment and Output' Reserve Bank of New Zealand *Discussion Paper* G88/4, July, 19pp.
- Hunn, Nicola (1984) 'Patterns of Response to the QSBO' NZIER Working Paper 84/08, August.
- Jackson, L. Fraser (1986) 'The Probability of a Price Change' paper presented to the Third World Congress of the Econometric Society, NZIER *Working Paper* 86/31; reprinted (in abbreviated form) in Bowie and Easton (eds) (1987).

- Jackson, L. Fraser (1994) 'Constructing Measures of Business Change from Opinion Survey Data' paper presented to a Conference of the New Zealand Association of Economists, August, 14pp.
- Jackson, L. Fraser (1996) 'Business Cycle Indicators and Opinion Survey Data' in K.H. Oppenländer and G. Poser (eds) *Business Cycle Surveys: Forecasting Issues and Methodological Aspects*, Aldershot: Avebury, 377-393.
- Jackson, L. Fraser and Alan Bollard (1992) 'An Analysis of Change at the Level of the Firm: A Prelude to a Definition of Stress' NZIER *Working Paper* 92/23, 27pp.
- Jackson, L. Fraser and Alan Bollard (1993) 'Constructing Summary Measures for Business Opinion Surveys and their Explanatory Power' CIRET 21st Conference October.
- Jackson, L. Fraser and Alan S. T. Yeo (1988) 'Price and Quantity Adjustments by the Firm' Victoria University of Wellington, Economics Department *Discussion Paper* No.45, July, 25pp.
- Kay, Linda B. (1982) 'Using Business Opinion: Utilisation of Capacity' NZIER *Quarterly Predictions* (87) December, 2-7.
- Kay, Linda B. (1983) 'Utilisation of Capacity: Comparing the QSBO and Other Measures' NZIER *Working Paper* 83/31, December, 78pp.
- Kay, Linda B. (1983) 'Using the Quarterly Survey of Business Opinion: The Role (and Success) of the Institute's Capacity Utilisation Measure' NZIER *Quarterly Survey of Business Opinion* (91) December, 2-6.
- Kay, Linda B. (1987) 'The QSBO Measure of Utilisation of Capacity' and appendix by Phil Briggs 'Forecasting Capacity Utilisation' in Bowie and Easton (eds) (1987) 31-41.
- Matheson, Troy D. (2007) 'An Analysis of the Informational Content of New Zealand Data Releases: The Importance of Business Opinion Surveys' Reserve Bank of New Zealand *Discussion Paper* DP2007/13, September, 52pp.
- Matheson, Troy D., James Mitchell and Brian Silverstone (2010) 'Nowcasting and Predicting Data Revisions Using Qualitative Panel Survey Data' *Journal of Forecasting* 29(3) April, 313-330.
- Mayes, David G. (1987) 'Sample and the New Sample for the QSBO' in Bowie and Easton (eds) (1987) 47-51.
- Meads, Chris S. and Robert A. Buckle (1989) 'An Autoregressive Approach to Analysing the Properties of New Zealand Business Expectations' Reserve Bank of New Zealand *Discussion Paper* G89/2, March, 19pp.
- Moore, Chris and Eric Haywood (1982) 'Forecasting Private Work Put-in-Place using NZIER's Business Opinion Data' *New Zealand Journal of Business* 4.
- O'Connor, Peter (2011) 'QSBO as a Forecasting Tool' paper presented to the 52nd Annual Conference of the New Zealand Association of Economists, Wellington, June.
- O'Dea, Des J. (1980) 'Business Expectations and Investment Intentions' NZIER *Quarterly Predictions* (62) June, 35-40.
- OECD (2004) Business Tendency Surveys: A Handbook, Paris: OECD.

- Plater, Vicki A. (1966) 'Regulatory Change and the Pricing Behaviour of Firms' MCA Thesis, Wellington: Victoria University of Wellington.
- Plater, Vicki A. (1997) 'Price Regulation and Price Stickiness in New Zealand' paper presented to a Conference of the New Zealand Association of Economists' August, 21pp.
- Roseveare, Debbie and Campbell Millar (1988) 'Testing the Rationality of Manufacturers' Inflationary Expectations' *New Zealand Economic Papers* 22, 3-13.
- Savage, John and David Cooling (1996) 'A Preliminary Report on the Results of a Survey on the Employment Contracts Act' NZIER *Working Paper* 96/7, March, 43pp.
- Scott, Alasdair (2000) 'A Multivariate Unobserved Components Model of Cyclical Activity' Reserve Bank of New Zealand *Discussion Paper* DP2000/04, January, 36pp.
- Silverstone, Brian (1989) 'Capacity Utilisation and Inflation: Some Stylised Evidence' NZIER *Quarterly Predications* (99) September, 55-62.
- Silverstone, Brian (1993) 'Some Practical Aspects of the NZIER Measure of Capacity Utilisation' NZIER *Quarterly Predications* (113) March, 65-72.
- Silverstone, Brian (2005) 'Help Wanted in New Zealand: The ANZ Bank Job Advertisement Series' in S.B. Blumenfeld and G. Lafferty (eds) *Labour, Employment and Work in New Zealand*, Proceedings of the 11th Conference, Wellington: Victoria University of Wellington, 125-133. [ftp://mngt.waikato.ac.nz/RePEc/wai/econwp/0403.pdf]
- Silverstone, Brian (2000) 'Respondent Dynamics within the NZIER Survey of Business Opinion: An Introductory Perspective' Department of Economics, University of Waikato, *Working Paper* 3/00, November, 14pp. [ftp://mngt.waikato.ac.nz/RePEc/wai/econwp/0003.pdf]
- Silverstone, Brian and Warren Hughes (1992) 'Assessing the NZIER Measure of Capacity Utilisation' NZIER *Working Paper* 92/14, September, 25pp.
- Silverstone, Brian and Victoria Wall (2009) 'Job Vacancy Monitoring in New Zealand' in P.S. Morrison (ed) *Labour, Employment and Work in New Zealand*, Proceedings of the 13th Conference, Wellington: Victoria University of Wellington, 448-454. [ftp://mngt.waikato.ac.nz/RePEc/wai/econwp/0901.pdf]
- Sundakov, Alex and Doug Steel (2000) 'Human Capital and Growth' in K.H. Oppenländer, G. Poser and B. Schips (eds) *Use of Survey Data for Industry, Research and Economic Policy* Aldershot: Ashgate, pp.365-376.
- Wells, Graeme (1983) 'The QSBO and Manufacturers' Capacity Utilisation' NZIER *Working Paper* 83/09, March, 13pp.
- Zeng, Lulu (2011) 'Predictive Ability of Sector-Level QSBO Data' paper presented to the 52nd Annual Conference of the New Zealand Association of Economists, Wellington, June.

Classified Listing

History

- Allen, James (2011) 'A Brief History of the QSBO' paper presented to the 52nd Annual Conference of the New Zealand Association of Economists, Wellington.
- Bowie, Robert and Brian Easton (eds) (1987) 'Business Opinion in New Zealand: The NZIER Survey' NZIER *Research Paper* 36, January, 109pp.
- Cassino, Enzo (1993) 'An Examination of the Distributions Underlying Business Survey Responses in New Zealand' MCA Thesis, Wellington: Victoria University of Wellington.
- Gillion, Colin G. (1964) 'New Zealand Institute of Economic Research Surveys of Business Opinion' *Economic Record* 40(89) March, 58-77.
- Haywood, Eric (1980) 'An Introductory Look at the NZIER's Business Opinion Data' New Zealand Journal of Business (2).
- Hunn, Nicola (1984) 'Patterns of Response to the QSBO' NZIER Working Paper 84/08, August.
- Mayes, David G. (1987) 'Sample and the New Sample for the QSBO' in Bowie and Easton (eds) (1987) 47-51.
- OECD (2004) Business Tendency Surveys: A Handbook, Paris: OECD.

Expectations

- Balcombe, Kelvin (1996) 'The Carlson-Parkin Method Applied to NZ Price Expectations Using QSBO Survey Data' *Economics Letters* 51(1) April, 51-57.
- Buckle, Robert A., Eric W. Assendelft and L. Fraser Jackson (1988a) 'Patterns in Accuracy and Bias of Business Expectations for Several Variables: New Zealand Experience, 1964-1987' paper presented to Australian Bicentennial Economics Congress, Canberra, August-September, 33pp.
- Buckle, Robert A., Eric W. Assendelft and L. Fraser Jackson (1988b) 'The Value of Business Expectations' NZIER *Contract Research Paper* 157, 35pp.
- Buckle, Robert A., Eric W. Assendelft and L. Fraser Jackson (1990) 'Manufacturers' Expectations of Prices and Quantities: New Zealand Experience, 1964-87' *Applied Economics* 22(5) May, 579-598.
- Cassino, Enzo (1994) 'A Study of the Distributions underlying Business Survey Responses in New Zealand' Reserve Bank of New Zealand, mimeo, 32pp.
- Hall, Viv B. and Max L. King (1976) 'Inflationary Expectations in New Zealand: A Preliminary Study' *New Zealand Economic Papers* 10, 118-151.
- Jackson, L. Fraser (1994) 'Constructing Measures of Business Change from Opinion Survey Data' Paper presented to a Conference of the New Zealand Association of Economists, August, 14pp.

- Jackson, L. Fraser and Alan Bollard (1993) 'Constructing Summary Measures for Business Opinion Surveys and their Explanatory Power' CIRET 21st Conference October.
- Meads, Chris S. and Robert A. Buckle (1989) 'An Autoregressive Approach to Analysing the Properties of New Zealand Business Expectations' Reserve Bank of New Zealand *Discussion Paper* G89/2, March, 19pp.
- O'Connor, Peter (2011) 'QSBO as a Forecasting Tool' paper presented to the 52nd Annual Conference of the New Zealand Association of Economists, Wellington.
- O'Dea, Des J. (1980) 'Business Expectations and Investment Intentions' NZIER *Quarterly Predictions* (62) June, 35-40.
- Zeng, Lulu (2011) 'Predictive Ability of Sector-Level QSBO Data' paper presented to the 52nd Annual Conference of the New Zealand Association of Economists, Wellington.

Pricing Behaviour

- Balcombe, Kelvin and C. John McDermott (2003) 'Testing for Asymmetric Price Stickiness using NZ Business Opinion Data: A Bootstrap Approach' *Applied Economics Letters* 10(15) December, 955-958.
- Buckle (1988) 'Expectations and Credibility in the Disinflation Process' NZIER *Discussion Paper* No.33, 29pp.
- Buckle, Robert A. and John A. Carlson (1996a) 'Inflation and Asymmetric Price Adjustment' Victoria University of Wellington, Graduate School of Business and Government Management *Working Paper* 12/96, November, 32pp.
- Buckle, Robert A. and John A. Carlson (1996b) 'Price Duration with Two-Sided Pricing Rules' in K.H. Oppenländer and G. Poser (eds) *Business Cycle Surveys: Forecasting Issues and Methodological Aspects*, Aldershot, Avebury, 99-118.
- Buckle, Robert A. and John A. Carlson (2000b) 'Menu Costs, Firm Size and Price Rigidity' *Economics Letters* 66(1) January, 59-63.
- Buckle, Robert A. and John A. Carlson (2000a) 'Inflation and Asymmetric Price Adjustment' *Review of Economics and Statistics* 82(1) February, 157-160.
- Buckle, Robert A. and Linda B. Kay (1982) 'The Price Freeze and Inflation Expectations' NZIER *Quarterly Predictions* (71) September, 36-43.
- Buckle, Robert A., Julian M. Peters and John Savage (1996) 'Asymmetric Price Adjustment: An Investigation of the Merchant and Service Sectors' NZIER June.
- Coleman, Andrew and Brian Silverstone (2007) 'Price Changes by Firms in New Zealand: Some Evidence from the *Quarterly Survey of Business Opinion*' Reserve Bank of New Zealand *Bulletin* 70(3) September, 18-30.

- Jackson, L. Fraser (1986) 'The Probability of a Price Change' Paper presented to the Third World Congress of the Econometric Society, NZIER *Working Paper* 86/31; reprinted (in abbreviated form) in Bowie and Easton (eds) (1987).
- Jackson, L. Fraser and Alan S. T. Yeo (1988) 'Price and Quantity Adjustments by the Firm' Victoria University of Wellington, Economics Department *Discussion Paper* No.45, July, 25pp.
- Plater, Vicki A. (1966) 'Regulatory Change and the Pricing Behaviour of Firms' MCA Thesis, Wellington: Victoria University of Wellington.
- Plater, Vicki A. (1997) 'Price Regulation and Price Stickiness in New Zealand' paper presented to the New Zealand Association of Economists' Conference, August, 21pp.
- Roseveare, Debbie and Campbell Millar (1988) 'Testing the Rationality of Manufacturers' Inflationary Expectations' *New Zealand Economic Papers* 22, 3-13.

Capacity Utilisation, Output and Inflation

- Buckle, Robert A. and John A. Carlson (1998) 'Inflation and Asymmetric Output Adjustments by Firms' *Economic Inquiry* 36(2) April, 215-228.
- Hayley, Simon (1995) 'Capacity Utilisation: Modelling and Interpretation' Reserve Bank of New Zealand *Research Note* N95/9, March, 41-55.
- Hodgetts, Bernard (2004) 'NZIER's Capacity Utilisation Index' Reserve Bank of New Zealand *Bulletin* 67(3) September, 19-26.
- Kay, Linda B. (1982) 'Using Business Opinion: Utilisation of Capacity' NZIER *Quarterly Predictions* (87) December, 2-7.
- Kay, Linda B. (1983) 'Utilisation of Capacity: Comparing the QSBO and Other Measures' NZIER *Working Paper* 83/31, December, 78pp.
- Kay, Linda B. (1983) 'Using the Quarterly Survey of Business Opinion: The Role (and Success) of the Institute's Capacity Utilisation Measure' NZIER *Quarterly Survey of Business Opinion* (91) December, 2-6.
- Kay, Linda B. (1987) 'The QSBO Measure of Utilisation of Capacity' and appendix by Phil Briggs 'Forecasting Capacity Utilisation' in Bowie and Easton (eds) (1987) 31-41.
- Silverstone, Brian (1989) 'Capacity Utilisation and Inflation: Some Stylised Evidence' NZIER *Quarterly Predications* (99) September, 55-62.
- Silverstone, Brian (1993) 'Some Practical Aspects of the NZIER Measure of Capacity Utilisation' NZIER *Quarterly Predications* (113) March, 65-72.
- Silverstone, Brian and Warren Hughes (1992) 'Assessing the NZIER Measure of Capacity Utilisation' NZIER *Working Paper* 92/14, September, 25pp.
- Wells, Graeme (1983) 'The QSBO and Manufacturers' Capacity Utilisation' NZIER *Working Paper* 83/09, March, 13pp.

Investment, Imports and Exports

- Ashley-Jones, Cathryn (1982) 'Investment Intentions' *Quarterly Survey of Business Opinion* (86) September 1982, pp.2-5; reprinted in Bowie and Easton (eds) (1987) 12-15.
- Braae, Richard (1983) 'Using Business Opinion: Imports' *Quarterly Survey of Business Opinion* (89) June 1983, pp.2-4; reprinted in Bowie and Easton (eds) (1987) 16-18.
- Briggs, Phil (1998) 'A Presentation on Using QSBO to Forecast Exports and Investment' NZIER *Working Paper* 98/6, March, 12pp.
- Brooks, Ray (1986) 'Leading Indicators of Investment' Reserve Bank of New Zealand *Discussion Paper* G86/3.
- Buckle, Robert A., David Haugh and Paul Rodway (1999) 'What Determines Firm Investment Intentions? Micro and Macro Analyses using Business Survey Data' in K.H. Oppenländer, G. Poser and B. Schips (eds) *Use of Survey Data for Industry, Research and Economic Policy* Aldershot: Ashgate, 291-309.
- Holmes, Mark J., James Mitchell and Brian Silverstone (2010) 'Architects as Nowcasters of Housing Construction' *National Institute Economic Review* 210(1) September, 111-121.
- Moore, Chris and Eric Haywood (1982) 'Forecasting Private Work Put-in-Place using NZIER's Business Opinion Data' *New Zealand Journal of Business* 4.
- Sundakov, Alex and Doug Steel (2000) 'Human Capital and Growth' in K.H. Oppenländer, G. Poser and B. Schips (eds) *Use of Survey Data for Industry, Research and Economic Policy* Aldershot: Ashgate, 365-76.

Employment

- Briggs, Phil (1993) 'Analysis of the QSBO ECA Survey Results' and 'Tables from the QSBO ECA Survey' NZIER *Working Paper* 93/11 and *Working Paper* 93/9, June, 28pp and 129pp, respectively.
- Buckle, Robert A. and Julian M. Peters (1995) 'Expectations and Employment Dynamics in New Zealand Manufacturing' in P.S. Morrison (ed) *Labour, Employment and Work in New Zealand* Proceedings of the Sixth Conference, Wellington: Victoria University of Wellington, 76-86.
- Savage, John and David Cooling (1996) 'A Preliminary Report on the Results of a Survey on the Employment Contracts Act' NZIER *Working Paper* 96/7, March, 43pp.
- Silverstone, Brian (2005) 'Help Wanted in New Zealand: The ANZ Bank Job Advertisement Series' in S.B. Blumenfeld and G. Lafferty (eds) *Labour, Employment and Work in New Zealand*, Proceedings of the 11th Conference, Wellington: Victoria University of Wellington, 125-133. [ftp://mngt.waikato.ac.nz/RePEc/wai/econwp/0403.pdf]
- Silverstone, Brian and Victoria Wall (2009) 'Job Vacancy Monitoring in New Zealand' in P.S. Morrison (ed) *Labour, Employment and Work in New Zealand*, Proceedings of the 13th Conference, Wellington: Victoria University of Wellington, 448-454. [ftp://mngt.waikato.ac.nz/RePEc/wai/econwp/0901.pdf]

Structural Change

- Austin, T., M. Fox and R. Hamilton (1996) 'A Study of Small and Medium Sized Business Financing in New Zealand' Wellington: *Ministry of Commerce*.
- Baird, Mark, John Savage and Anna Petherick (1990) 'Responding to Change: What Firms Say about Structural Adjustment' NZIER *Research Monograph* 54, October, 90pp.
- Bollard, Alan E. and L. Fraser Jackson (1992) 'How Economically Stressed Firms Adjust' NZIER *Working Paper* 92/11, September, 21pp.
- Bollard, Alan E. and L. Fraser Jackson (1992) 'Economic Stress in the New Zealand Business Sector 1975-1992' NZIER *Working Paper* 92/12, September, 16pp.
- Jackson, L. Fraser and Alan Bollard (1992) 'An Analysis of Change at the Level of the Firm: A Prelude to a Definition of Stress' NZIER *Working Paper* 92/23, 27pp.

Business Cycles

- Buckle, Robert A. and Chris S. Meads (1991) 'How Do Firms React to Surprising Changes to Demand? A Vector Autoregressive Analysis using Business Survey Data' Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics 53(4) November, pp.451-66; reprinted in K.H Oppenländer and G. Poser (eds) (1992) Business Cycle Analysis by Means of Economic Surveys Aldershot: Avebury, 183-202.
- Green, Christopher and Craig Beaumont (1993) 'Leading Indicators of Economic Activity' Reserve Bank of New Zealand *Bulletin* 56(2) June, 166-176.
- Hassan, Matthew and Phil Briggs (2000) 'Stocks and the Business Cycle: An Initial Examination of Business Opinion Survey Data' in K.H. Oppenländer, G. Poser and B. Schips (eds) *Use of Survey Data for Industry, Research and Economic Policy*, Aldershot: Ashgate, 503-514.
- Holmes, Mark J. and Brian Silverstone (2008) 'Business Confidence and Cyclical Turning Points: A Markov-Switching Approach' *Applied Economics Letters* 19(2) 229-233.
- Huddleston, John (1988) 'NZIER QSBO Indicators: Their Reliability as Leading Indicators for Investment and Output' Reserve Bank of New Zealand *Discussion Paper* G88/4, July, 19pp.
- Jackson, L. Fraser (1996) 'Business Cycle Indicators and Opinion Survey Data' in K.H. Oppenländer and G. Poser (eds) *Business Cycle Surveys: Forecasting Issues and Methodological Aspects*, Aldershot: Avebury, 377-393.
- Matheson, Troy D. (2007) 'An Analysis of the Informational Content of New Zealand Data Releases: The Importance of Business Opinion Surveys' Reserve Bank of New Zealand *Discussion Paper* DP2007/13, September, 52pp.
- Silverstone, Brian (2000) 'Respondent Dynamics Within the NZIER Survey of Business Opinion: An Introductory Perspective' Department of Economics, University of Waikato, *Working Paper* 3/00, November, 14pp. [ftp://mngt.waikato.ac.nz/RePEc/wai/econwp/0003.pdf]

Models Using or Including QSBO Data

- Buckle, Robert A. and Julian M. Peters (1995) 'Expectations and Employment Dynamics in New Zealand Manufacturing' in P.S. Morrison (ed) *Labour, Employment and Work in New Zealand 1994*, Wellington: Victoria University of Wellington, 76-86.
- Briggs, Phil (1986) 'The NZIER VAR Model' NZIER Working Paper 86/05, May.
- Chapple, Simon, Richard Harris and Brian Silverstone (1996) 'Unemployment' in B. Silverstone, A. Bollard and R. Lattimore (eds) *A Study of Economic Reform: The Case of New Zealand*, Amsterdam: Elsevier, 139-171.
- Claus, Iris (2003) 'Estimating Potential Output for New Zealand' Applied Economics 35(7) 751-760.
- Conway, Paul and Ben Hunt (1997) 'Estimating Potential Output: A Semi-Structural Approach' Reserve Bank of New Zealand *Discussion Paper* G97/9. [http://www.rbnz.govt.nz/research/discusspapers/dp1997.html#P14_433]
- Goodson, Matthew C. (1995) 'Irreversible Investment, Uncertainty and Hysteresis: A New Zealand Investigation' *New Zealand Economic Papers* 29 (2) December, 119-141.
- Ha, Yuong and Tim Hampton (2002) 'A Small Estimated Model (SEM) for New Zealand' paper presented to the 2002 Australasian Macro Workshop, *Reserve Bank of New Zealand*. [http://www.rbnz.qovt.nz/research/workshops/112040/4apr02hay.pdf]
- Matheson, Troy D., James Mitchell and Brian Silverstone (2010) 'Nowcasting and Predicting Data Revisions Using Qualitative Panel Survey Data' *Journal of Forecasting* 29(3) April, 313-330.
- Scott, Alasdair (2000) 'A Multivariate Unobserved Components Model of Cyclical Activity' Reserve Bank of New Zealand *Discussion Paper* DP2000/04, January, 36pp.

Special Surveys Held in Conjunction with QSBO

Survey	QSBO	Date
Credit Conditions	No.196	March 2010
Credit Conditions	No.193	June 2009
ECA Survey	No.163	December 2001
Involvement in Export Activity	No.159	December 2000
The Year 2000 Problem	No.150	September 1998
Employment	No.131	December 1993
The Employment Contracts Act	No.128	March 1993
The Electricity Crisis	No.125	June 1992

Short Articles in Regular Issues of QSBO

Article	QSBO	Date
Soft Landing?	No.141	July 1996
ECA Survey	No.140	April 1996
Impact of Policy Statements	No.139	January 1996
Factors Limiting Activity	No.138	October 1995
Is this Slowdown Different?	No.137	July 1995
Why are Services Different?	No.136	April 1995
The Economy at a Turning Point	No.135	December 1994
Changes in Price Behaviour?	No.134	October 1994
Skill Shortages and Real Product Wages	No.133	July 1994
Exporting and Real GDP	No.132	April 1994
Exporting by Manufacturers and Builders	No.131	January 1994
QSBO and GDP	No.130	September 1993
Using QSBO to Forecast Investment	No.129	June 1993
Using Business Opinion: Imports	No.89	June 198
The Impact of the Freeze	No.85	June 1982
Business Opinion of Major Projects and Export Activity	No.84	March 1982
Using Business Opinion: Profitability	No.83	December 1981
Using Business Opinion: Employment	No.82	September 1981

QSBO Editors and Managers 1961-2011

QSBO	Period	Editor(s)	Manager(s)
1-5	1961:2-1962:2	Conrad Blyth, Allan Catt, Peter Elkan,	Paul Hamer, Bill Poole
6-37	1962:3-1970:2	Bill Poole	Bill Poole
38-65	1970:3-1977:2	Kerrin Vautier	Kerrin Vautier
66-72	1977:3-1979:1	Jules Ellis	J.F. McGill
73-81	1979:2-1981:2	Kerry McDonald	Joe Boullon
82-91	1981:3-1983:4	Cathryn Ashley-Jones	Joe Boullon
92-93	1984:1-1984:2	Robert Bowie	Joe Boullon
94-95	1984:3-1984:4	David Grimmond	Joe Boullon
96	1985:1	Mark Benseman	Joe Boullon
97-109	1985:2-1988:2	Robert Bowie	Joe Boullon, Eric Assendeflt
110-131	1988:3-1993:4	Alan Bollard	Phil Briggs, Eric Assendeflt
132-138	1994:1-1995:3	Phil Briggs	Phil Briggs
139-141	1995:4-1996:2	John Yeabsley	Phil Briggs
142-144	1996:3-1997:1	Phil Briggs, David Cooling	David Cooling
145-150	1997:2-1998:3	Phil Briggs, Matthew Hassan	Matthew Hassan
151-154	1998:4-1999:3	Phil Briggs, Donna Purdue	Matthew Hassan, Donna Purdue
155-159	1999:4-2000:4	Phil Briggs, Matthew Hassan, Lisa Yee	Lisa Yee
160-161	2001:1-2001:2	John Ballingall, Doug Steel	Peter Gardner
162-166	2001:3-2002:3	Peter Gardner, Doug Steel	Peter Gardner
167	2002:4	Peter Gardner, Phil Briggs	Peter Gardner, Phil Briggs
168	2003:1	Peter Gardner, Mark Walton	Peter Gardner, Mark Walton
169	2003:2	Peter Gardner, Doug Steel	Peter Gardner, Doug Steel
170-172	2003:3-2004:1	Peter Gardner, Mark Walton	Peter Gardner, Mark Walton
173-175	2004:2-2004:4	Doug Steel, John Stephenson	Doug Steel, John Stephenson
176-178	2005:1-2005:3	Grant Andrews	Grant Andrews, John Stephenso
179-189	2005:4-2008:2	Brent Layton	Brent Layton
190-192	2008:3-2009:1	Johannah Branson	Johannah Branson
193-195	2009:2-2009:4	Jean-Pierre de Raad	Jean-Pierre de Raad
196-200	2010:1-2011:1	Shamubeel Eaqub	Shamubeel Eaqub

Jane Barnett, Diana Cook, Ian Duncan, Nicola Hunn, Brendan O'Donovan, John Savage, Susan Snively and Stan Vandersyp participated, on occasions, as an editor or manager.

Assistance has also been provided by Corina Basher, Rhonda Boqisch, Ashleigh Coetzer, Claire Gall, Gail Dallimore, Vickie Evans, Kathryn Featherstone, Frances Gamble, Raewyn Hodges, Elizabeth Hodgson, Danielle de Joux, Ryoko Ito, Carolina Lopez, Jessica Matthewson, Cherloe Morgan, Deborah O'Connor, Peter O'Connor, Joanna Smith, Sarah Spring, Lisa Tmomason, Alice Wang and Paddi Wilson.